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PREFACE

) On March 1, 1988, the U.S. General Accounting Office held a
joint public hearing in conjunction with the Security and
Exchange Commission, the Federal Home Loan Bank Board, the
Comptroller of the Currency, the Federal Reserve System, the
Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation, the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Department of the Treasury,
and the Department of Labor. The hearing fulfilled part of GAO's
responsibilities mandated in the Competitive Equality Banking Act
of 1987 (see appendix I for a complete description of the
requirements specified in the Act). Various witnesses comprised
of market participants and academicians provided their views on
the nature of the market of high yield bonds which are contained
in the transcript and written comments. The witnesses were given
the opportunity to review and edit the transcript for clarity
prior to publication. Other than minor grammatical and
punctuation changes by the GAO staff this transcript replicates,
as closely as possible, the actual recording of the comments made
during the hearing.

This product contains the transcript of the hearing, the
Federal Register Notice of Public Hearing and the Request for
Comments (appendix I), and the written comments provided by
witnesses (appendix II through XI).
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PROCEEDINGS
[10:00 a.m.]

MR. HAVENS: Good morning, and welcome to today's hearing on
the high yield bond market. My name is Harry Havens. I am an
Assistant Comptroller General in the U.S. General Accounting
Office. I will be the moderator for today's hearing, which I
interpret as being primarily a traffic cop.

The Competitive Equality Banking Act of 1987 mandates GAO to
study the high yield or "junk" bond market, of which this hearing
is a part. The issues on which we are seeking comments are
detailed in the Notice which appeared in the Federal Register on
February 1, 1988.

We have made available to the witnesses and panel members
pre-publication copies of a preliminary report which discusses
the issuers, purchasers, and purposes of high yield bonds.

Copies are also available on the table. We will be issuing a
final report in the future which will (1) summarize and analyze
current laws regulating investments in high yield bonds by
federally insured banks, thrifts, and pension funds; (2) review
the effect of high yield bonds on corporate debt as it relates to
federal monetary policy; (3) discuss other types of direct
investments made by federally insured institutions and the effect
those investments have had on federal insurance funds; and (4)
include our conclusions and recommendations.

As part of our information gathering process, GAO is
conducting this joint public hearing with representatives of the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Comptroller of the
Currency, the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Home Loan Bank
Board, the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation, the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Departments of Labor
and the Treasury. Representatives of these agencies are on the
panel and I would like to introduce them and the GAO
representatives at this time.

Starting all the way to the left is Janet Laufer, of the
Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration, Office of
Regulations and Interpretations, Department of Labor. Next is
Martha Scanlon from the Federal Reserve Board. Next is Ken Lehn,
Chief Economist of the SEC. On my immediate left is Craig
Simmons, Senior Associate Director, Financial Institutions and
Markets, of the U. S. General Accounting Office.

On my right is Gordon Eastburn, Director, Office of
Financial Institutions of the Treasury. Jim Barth, Director of
the Office of Policy and Economic Research, Federal Home Loan
Bank Board. Bob Miailovich, is that correct? From the FDIC,
substituting for Roger Watson.



On the far left is Owen Carney, Director of the Investment
Securities Division, Comptroller of the Currency.

I would like to thank everybody on the panel for their
cooperation and assistance in preparing for these hearings. Also
on behalf of the panel members as whole, I would like to welcome
the witnesses and thank each of you for being here and for taking
the time to help us gather this information.

Before beginning, I would like to offer a few ground rules
for the hearing. First, the panel members are not here to
express their agency's views on the issue in this release, nor to
respond to questions. Rather they are to ask the questions for
the purpose of helping GAO and themselves gather whatever
information seems relevant.

GAO intends to obtain the views of the agencies officially
through interviews and comments on a draft report.

Second, we have a lengthy list of witnesses and a number of
panel members who may wish to ask questions. In the interest of
time, please keep all remarks brief and to the point. Witnesses
should assume that all panel members are familiar with the
material submitted in advance. Your full statements will be
included in the record, and we ask that witnesses limit opening
remarks to no more than 10 minutes.

Third, only panel members will be permitted to ask
questions of the witnesses, and these questions will be asked on
a round robin basis until all of the time has been expended or
there are no further questions. We may also ask witnesses to
respond in writing to questions which we were not able to ask
because of time constraints.

A written transcript of the hearings will be prepared and
available for review in the GAO Law Library at 441 G Street, and
at our New York and Los Angeles regional offices as well, in
about two weeks,

GAO will keep the public comment record open until 5:00 p.m.
on March 15th, two weeks from today, so that anyone can respond
to issues raised in the written submission or during the
testimony today. Witnesses may also voluntarily submit
additional written material by that time if they wish to do so.

I want to introduce two other GAO staff here today, who may
be submitting questions from time to time through Craig
Simmons--Mike Burnett and Frank Philippi, immediately behind me.
They've been working with Craig, and are leaders in GAO's work in
this area.



Craig, have I missed anything we need to cover at this
point?

MR. SIMMONS: No, I think you've covered everything here.

MR. HAVENS: Okay. Our first witnesses constitute a panel
of academicians, A. Zachary Sussman, Editor of the Annual Review
of Banking Law, Boston University. Dr. Glenn Yago, Associate
Professor for Management of the W. Averell Harriman School for
Management and Policy, SUNY at Stony Brook. And Dr. Edward
Altman, Professor of Finance, New York University Graduate School
of Business.

Let me ask that we start with any opening remarks in that
sequence. Mr. Sussman first.

MR. SUSSMAN: Shall I give my testimony?

MR. HAVENS: Yes, but please limit your remarks to no more
than 10 minutes at this point, so that we can have time for
questions.

STATEMENT OF A. ZACHARY SUSSMAN, EDITOR,
ANNUAL REVIEW OF BANKING LAW, BOSTON UNIVERSITY

MR. SUSSMAN: Thank you for the opportunity to offer
testimony here today. I am an Editor of the Annual Review of
Banking Law, which is a law review of the Boston University
School of Law. As a third year law student, I have accepted a
position for the Fall as Associate Counsel for the Federal Home
Loan Bank of San Francisco. However, all statements which I'll
make here are my own. They do not necessarily reflect the views
or opinions of Boston University, or those of the Federal Home
Locan Bank System.

While in Law School, I have carefully researched the issue
of direct investment, and have arrived at some specific
conclusions, both of a legal nature, and of a policy nature,
which are published at Seventh Edition Annual Review of Banking
Law, page 425.

Today, I intend to address the issues raised by economic
policy. These hearings have been ordered because there is a
perception that a problem exists with direct investment in high
yield instruments by federally insured institutions. The largest
concern appears to be that the high yield promised to investors
may be too low to compensate for future defaults. The high vyield
market, in its present form, has not been tested by significant
negative economic events of a national scale.

The underwriters have strongly insisted that until now the
yield has been far more than adequate to compensate for loss in
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value due to defaults and other causes, and implicitly that this
will continue to be the case.

I believe there is merit to both sides of this quantitative
debate over the predictive validity of past default rates.
However, I also believe that over time the negative publicity
will fade, and the high yield market will mature and efficiently
discount the risks just like any other market.

Furthermore, I could for example, easily present a very
persuasive argument that real estate lending in Texas should be
prohibited, if I were to rely on past quantitative data which
speaks little of future economic conditions. Therefore I feel
that policy considerations require an assessment of high yield
debt from a qualitative viewpoint.

What is it about the nature of direct investment as compared
to other forms of lending, which could be of value to the
depository institutions as financial intermediaries? Direct
investment implies intermediation of these bonds. The answer
requires an analysis of the status of financial intermediation.

As a financial intermediary, a bank absorbs risks which its
depositors are unable or unwilling to accept. Two primary risks
are credit risk and interest rate risk. Simply put, a bank adds
value as an intermediary by performing an analysis of these
risks, and then prices its money accordingly. Hopefully the
profit derived from the spread between interest paid and interest
received will be large enough to attract and maintain bank
capital.

The real world is typically a distortion of any economic
model, and this is no exception. The models succeeds only under
the assumption that banks maintain a competitive advantage at
risk analysis, or at a minimum that they do not become relatively
inefficient in providing this value.

For many years, when commercial banks held an oligopoly
position protected by statute, and by lack of meaningful
competition, this was the case. Today, however, securities are
increasingly serving as a vehicle of choice, for matching those
who want to borrow on a large scale, and those willing and able
to lend.

The introduction of computerized securities analysis, and
securities clearing, in conjunction with global capital-raising
capabilities, has yielded great efficiencies in producing such
matches, thus gradually substituting for large scale financial
intermediation.

In the case of commercial banking, the industry's share of
the short-term lending market fell from 90% in 1971, to under 50%
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of a much larger base in 1986. The market for medium-term
commercial debt securities was estimated at $40 billion in 1986,
up from $17 billion in 1984,

In thrift lending, it's often more profitable to sell
mortgage loans as securities than it is to service them. To the
extent that a savings and loan derives its revenues from
origination fees, it is no longer a financial intermediary.

On the depositors' side, financial instruments such as money
market certificates, high interest CD's, and mutual funds have in
part taken the place of low yielding bank vehicles such as
savings and demand deposits.

More equity funds exist today than the number of firms
listed on the New York Stock Exchange itself. It is clear that
the competitive advantage which commercial banks once enjoyed at
large scale financial intermediation is subtly declining, due to
structural changes in the economy.

There are real dangers of this, above and beyond the obvious
lack of profits. Specifically, there will be an incentive to
increase revenues if a bank wishes to remain an intermediary.

And importantly, revenue and risk are intimately connected in the
financial industry. Risk, in and of itself, is not inherently
dangerous, if fairly compensated, particularly if a bank has a
competitive advantage at analyzing such risks over non-bank
competitors.

To sterilize a lender from risk would be to force it to
cease functioning. In theory, a bank could alter its risk
structure to respond to external changes such as increased
capital costs and competition for certain market segments.

However, regulation-based asset restrictions distort this
ability to adapt to change. Regulations which were written
during a previous era limit possible risk structures to narrow,
pre-specified choices. "Regulatory lag" of this sort tends to
limit bank assets to pre-determined choices which are less
relevant today, thus straightjacketing institutions from
adjusting to market forces.

The hidden danger of regulatory lag, however, is that the
target would be more vigorous in its attempt to find new forms of
risk taking than the regulators can control. Thus a bank may,
for example, increase its interest rate exposure, or its
unsystematic credit risk, which is itself an isoclated form of
risk, to the extent that these are not technically prohibited by
the regulations.



The real problem is that these forms of risk and others

which banks may resort to are not efficiently intermediated by
banks.

For example, most banks, and small banks in particular, lack
the expertise to evaluate national interest rate trends necessary
to successfully intermediate term risk. Unsystematic credit risk
is not efficient for banks either, and it is rarely compensated
for fairly.

There is some evidence that such a scenario might exist
today. In fact this could be the underlying reason for why we
are here today discussing the diversification of bank assets into
a new area.

The national regulations which govern bank investment in
bonds, for example, were last amended substantively in 1971, and
the bulk of asset regulations were last reviewed much earlier.

Keeping this in mind, we have seen the result of excessive
unsystematic credit risk, every time an institution fails due to
inadequate credit risk diversification away from agriculture, oil
and real estate sectors, and frequently when a commercial bank
takes a major writedown from a Latin American loan.

Term risk may also be on the rise, as Federal Reserve Board
data indicates that the weighted-average maturity of long term
commercial and industrial loans, as measured in months, has
increased from the mid-40's in the 1970's to the low 50's in the
1980's. This trend should require further study on the part of
the Pederal Reserve Board.

To ensure safety and soundness of the bank system, the bank
must be ensured a fair return on its capital. Commercial banks
are increasingly trying to increase return on capital by
performing securities-related services such as underwriting. As
long as investors have no recourse against the bank, the
securities generally don't need to be capitalized.

However, when we talk about high yield bonds, we're talking
about intermediation of capital. Now, as an intermediary,
commercial banks must invest in risks which they can successfully
intermediate. The problems in large scale financial
intermediation, caused in part by competition from securities,
demand an expansion of intermediation opportunities.

High yield bonds could serve as an avenue for such an
expansion. 1In order to evaluate high yield bonds as direct
investments however, we must first answer the question of whether
they require intermediation. In other words, is there an
opportunity for banks to add value as credit intermediaries?
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The bond rating services to some extent duplicate the credit
intermediary function on a larger scale, so that rated high yield
bonds are probably more fairly priced and present less
opportunity as direct investments.

Nevertheless, some feel that the ratings of high yield
issues have lagged behind changes of corporate affairs and have
failed to adequately correlate with actual default figures. That
does give banks the opportunity to act as credit intermediaries
for performing independent risk evaluations.

Private placements and the unrated high yield bond segment
represent even brighter opportunities. Private placements yield
more benefits to investors that perform independent evaluations,
as less public information is disclosed.

Unrated bonds, which are a significant portion of total of
high yield bonds, may be evaluated de novo by a bank's credit
analyst, creating a large opportunity for value added.

There is no reason to expect that a bank will choose to
accept an unrated bond risk which it would not accept as a bank
loan. Bank credit is, after all, also unrated.

In conclusion, the legislative history of the Garn-St
Germain Act indicated congressional intent to increase the
earnings potential and diversify earnings of savings and loans,
by diversifying into commercial loan and commercial paper
intermediation. Their experience has been largely successful.
To a larger degree than savings and loans, commercial banks have
a competitive advantage in their ability to analyze business
credit risks, and have an equal need to diversify sources of
intermediation revenue.

I therefore see very little reason why federal thrifts may
invest up to 11% in high yield bonds, while federal commercial
banks are barred completely from the market. High yield could be
a particular benefit to small commercial banks. High yield bonds
have lower origination cost than an equivalent sized loan
portfolio, they're subject to some degree of SEC oversight, and
are far more liquid than the interbank market for commercial
loans. Although they are generally more subordinated than direct
lending they are also more likely to have a market after default.

As a footnote to this proceeding, the need to diversify
earnings could also be interpreted as requiring a re-evaluation
of the Glass-Steagall Act, which would allow a bank to generate
non-intermediation revenues. However, that is not the purpose of
this hearing today.

Regarding implementation of these ideas, I have suggested
that regulations should permit more flexibility in the individual
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forms of risk-taking open to banks, and that high yield bonds can
play an important role in such a strategy.

Ultimately, an overall level of risk may be established
which would dictate maximum risk levels that reflect social value
regarding the banking system. Outside social values should not
be confused with the forms of risk-taking, however, because that
can lead to economic distortion.

Increased flexibility, however, makes uniform enforcement
efforts much more difficult. Structuring the regulations so that
some negative element varies directly with the pursuit of higher
risk assets could improve enforcement efforts, because it would
free the primary regulator somewhat from having to act as a
policeman.

To this extent, the risk-based capital scheme currently
under consideration by the major commercial banking regulators
could succeed in imposing a market discipline on commercial
banking assets.

The categories could ultimately be expanded to include high
vield bonds or any other form of risk which a bank is willing to
pay for. The maximum category was 100% in the Federal Reserve
Board proposal. Possibly 150%, or 200% could be required for
high yield bonds as assets.

Tying capital requirements to the risk formula causes market
forces to discipline banks in favor of taking only fairly
compensated risks. To some, market discipline is much more
effective than requlatory discipline.

The FDIC already implements a market approach to debt
securities risk. The FDIC does not prohibit high yield debt
security purchases per se. Rather, it forces automatic
writedowns of price depreciation and defaults for capital
computation purposes.

Other forms of market discipline that have been proposed
address the criticism that depository insurance skews the
incentives for risk-taking by bank managers. The risk based
insurance premium, if of sufficient weight, may succeed in
restoring the proper incentives. Private depository insurance
has been proposed, as well as personal liability for bank
officers.

One scheme would increase the amount of subordinated debt
that comprises bank equity capital. Now, supposedly subordinated
debt holders are far more effective at market discipline than
equity owners because they do not share in the upside potential
of institution, only the downside.
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In conclusion, whatever method is ultimately chosen to
manage asset flexibility should recognize that risk is something
to be managed and not feared. The role of regulation should be
to discipline banks towards taking only the most efficient forms
of risks while the overall level of risk may be established later
on policy grounds.

High yield bonds are a relatively efficient form of credit
risk for both commercial banks and savings and loans. They are
amenable to financial intermediation and provide the regulators
with one more tool to carry out their function. If managed
properly they could provide a model or further expansion in bank
powers if such a route is desired.

As an added tool for regulators, high yvield bonds can
further these goals, not only for savings and loans, but for
commercial banks as well. Thank you.

[See Appendix II for the written statement of Mr. Sussman.]

MR. HAVENS: Thank you, Mr. Sussman. Next, Dr. Glenn Yago,
Associate Professor for Management at SUNY at Stony Brook.

STATEMENT OF DR. GLENN YAGO, ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR
OF MANAGEMENT, W. AVERELL HARRIMAN SCHOOL FOR MANAGEMENT
AND POLICY, STATE UNIVERSITY OF NEW YORK AT STONY BROOK

DR. YAGO: Thank you, Mr. Havens. The testimony that we're
going to be delivering today is a result of a study that we've
been doing at the Economic Research Bureau at the Harriman
School. Our study is based upon publicly available data for
companies that issue high yield bonds between 1980 and 1986.

In the course of the study we reviewed available research
information on high yield securities and their impact on the U.S.
industrial competitiveness. We also undertook a systematic
empirical analysis with investment, employment and productivity
patterns of the issuing firms.

Most existing high yield bonds research assesses the
financial performance of these bond issues in the secondary
market. Instead we examined the financing impacts on firms and
industries over the past decade, and tracked how these firms
adopt new corporate structures and strategy, in response to major
economic shifts.

In doing so, we're addressing an important policy issue: why
Federally insured institutions should be permitted to continue to
invest in high yield securities. As the study demonstrates, the
high yield security served the public interest by providing a
means for growing businesses to access capital. Our study shows
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that high yield bond issuers have contributed substantially to

employment in a wide range of industries, and in a variety of
situations.

I'd 1like to stress the issue about the variety of
applications of the use of these financial instruments, and that
it would seem that the conclusion that could be derived from the
study is that restricting investments would be a disservice to
keeping economic growth alive.

I'd like to refer both the panel and anyone in the audience
to the version of the testimony that's on the table over here
which contains some tables and graphs that weren't in the earlier
version, which might give you a little bit more of the detail and
facts in the study.

SUNY focuses on 755 companies from 1980 to 1986, for which
there was publicly available data. By 1987, high yield
securities represented 23% of corporate debt issues outstanding,
with less than one~third of these representing fallen angels, or
issues that had once been investment grade.

Our study, I should emphasize, is focused on new public
issues, on the new issue market, and it's important to note, I
think, that some of the graphs here would indicate that high
yield debt seems to follow rather than to lead recent trends in
increased corporate indebtedness. I think that's an important
differentiation to make, to see the role of the increased use of
this financial instrument as a part of the general growth of
corporate debt, and not the cause of it.

The Federal Reserve Banks flow of funds data indicate that
the composition of corporate debt has shifted away from bank
loans and towards capital markets over the past decades. Bank
loans fell 8% while the combined credit market share of corporate
debt increased over 13%.

Within this context, high yield securities played an
increasingly important part in corporate finance. The decline of
U.S5. competitiveness generally has been ascribed to a range of
factors other than the cost of capital, while research is focused
on labor costs, energy costs, natural resource cost, various
agency and assorted market costs.

How companies invest in their future, largely depends on how
much capital is available and how it is allocated. Different
types of financing may be required at various stages of firm and
product development for R&D, new plant and equipment, marketing,
employee training, management reorganization, other agency costs,
acquisitions or market expansion.
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Sometimes a firm cannot finance adaptation to new markets
because banks won't extend credit or the firm's size or lack of a
past credit history makes it unfavorable for equity offerings or
other types of financing. Even if capital is available, the cost
of capital in those situations may be prohibitive. Recent
research suggests that higher capital costs may be a significant
element in overall problems of industrial competitiveness.

The issues of leverage and whether or not American
corporations are over leveraged is, I think, answered largely in
a comparative context when you look at Japanese or German firms
and find, especially within the manufacturing sector, much higher
levels of debt to capital.

Let me discuss the competitive performance of high yield
issuers. An important part of our study was to determine
aggregate competitive performance, and in doing so, we took into
consideration a number of fundamental issues relating to job
creation, job retention, sales growth productivity, and a variety
of those types of issues.

Aside from looking at the 755 companies, we extracted from
that sampling companies upon which we made more intensive case
studies., 1I'll just summarize what our basic conclusions were.
Again, we find that high yield securities contributed
substantially to corporate development but in very different ways
depending on the company, depending on the industrial context,
and depending on the strategic orientation of the firm's
management,

Looking at both use of proceeds and going into case history
information about the firms, we find a variety of ways that high
yield securities were used which enabled firms to respond to
industrial diseconomies of scale. They allowed firms to move
outside of traditional industrial definition of goods and
services and provide complimentary products or services that
enhance competitive position.

High yield securities also maintained flexibility in the
firm's organization of management, production and distribution.
A lot of times the financing was used to apply advance
technologies to many basic and mundane goods and services. The
strategies that were utilized by the firms were to integrate
marketing and production in ways their competitors did not, and
to pursue financial flexibility through financing innovation and
balance sheet management.

And finally, we looked at corporate strategies within the

firms, and how they responded to demographic and economic shifts
that affect market composition and demand.
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Let me summarize some of the basic findings of the overall
study from 1980 to 1986 of the larger group of firms.

Manufacturing industries had the highest concentration of
high yield issue, 22.6%, followed by financial, insurance and
real estate, and various services. We also computed a high yield
index and found that finance, public utilities, mining and
natural resource extraction, transportation, communications,
insurance, leisure and repair services, and non-durable
manufacturing participated more in the high yield bond
market than their share of the U.S. economy as measured by
percentage of GNP.

Let me talk about some of the specific variables we looked
at. We looked at employment. Our analysis of high yield issuers
over the 7 year period indicates that the average annual increase
in employment among high yield issuers was 6.8% compared to
industrial averages of 1.38%.

High yield firms added 80% of the annual average job growth
of all publicly traded companies for which employment data were
reported. There was a lot of variation in the weight of these
employment impacts. High yield firms grew faster than their
industry averages in the service sector, health and education,
public utilities, leisure and repair services, retail trade,
finance, and real estate.

On the other hand, in some sectors the high yield firms grew
while their industries declined. This is true in communications,
mining and natural resource extraction, and construction. 1In
sectors that were declining, high yield firms declined slower
than the industry as a whole, Manufacturing decline, for
instance, was 1.77% for the industry as a whole, and .74% for
high yield firms.

While there was diversity among firms and industries, high
yield companies evidenced a greater capacity than U.S. industry
in general to create new jobs, to retain old jobs, and to
successfully equip themselves and manage the employment
reductions in the context of overall industrial sector job loss.

We also looked at productivity and various ways of measuring
productivity. The distribution of high yield securities
generally parallels the distribution of restructuring activity
and merger, acquisition and divestiture in the economy as a
whole,

High yield financing has been concentrated in those sectors
that have been deregulated such as finance, mining and natural
resource extraction, or have experienced high levels of import
penetration, for example, primary metals, fabricated metals,
paper and allied products.
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Using the Bureau of Labor Statistics data that was available
on physical output per employee hour for 87 industries,
productivity increases were associated with a high level of high
yield security issuance in mining and natural resources,
manufacturing, finance and public utilities.

We also looked at sales productivity as a separate measure
for a broader range of firms and found that high yield firms
compared to their industries performed at a higher level, 3.18%
versus 2.4%.

We looked at sales, and again the findings are relatively
consistent. High yield firms tended to grow more rapidly than
other companies in sales, and this was true in a range of
industries mentioned in the testimony.

Perhaps the most important area, I think, is comparative
levels of capital expenditures. I think there's general
agreement that new capital spending represents a commitment to
future product production cycles and the enhancement of
production capacity in the economy.

In examining new capital spending on construction, or
acquisition of property, plant and equipment, high yield firms
outperformed their industries more than double, 10.6% average
annual growth over the period versus 3.8%. Within manufacturing,
capital spending was four times higher than the manufacturing
sector as a whole,

Aside from doing that, the cohort analysis of firms from
1980 to 1986, we also did a before and after analysis on the
class of 1983, as we call it, the 163 issues of 1983 for which we
could get a matching three-year before and after time
measurement.

In examining firms before and after their high yield issue,
we found that high yield manufacturing firms reversed declining
rates of spending. Before the issue, their rate of spending was
negative 4.8%, with a 17.9% increase after the issue, while
overall capital spending in U.S. manufacturing industries as a
whole was relatively flat, .54% from 1980 to 1983, and .59% from
1983 to 1986.

If manufacturing in some sectors is coming back to life, it
is evident that high yield markets have played a major role in
that behalf.

The empirical evidence of corporate strategies and
performance in employment, investment and capital spending
indicates that high yield firms act as agents of change within
their industry. They appear to be seeking out new opportunities
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in process technologies and product markets, and overcome
obstacles of past production cycles and international
competition.

The infusion of capital into firms from high yield
securities does more than reshuffle securities, or reconfigure
the firm's financial structure. 1Instead, it hastens the
deployment of capital resources towards higher value operations
and strategies. Thank you very much.

[See Appendix III for the written statement of Dr. Yago.]

MR. HAVENS: Thank you, Dr. Yago. Last, but certainly not
least, Dr. Edward Altman, Professor of Finance, New York
University Graduate School of Business. Dr. Altman.

STATEMENT OF DR. EDWARD ALTMAN, PROFESSOR OF FINANCE,
NEW YORK UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL OF BUSINESS

DR. ALTMAN: Good morning, thank you very much, Mr.
Chairman, and ladies and gentlemen of the panel., 1I'd like to
editorialize a moment by saying I'm pleased and mildly surprised
to find not only a large and distinguished panel in name, but
also in person, at this hearing. My experience in testifying in
Washington usually is that it's a very important subject that's
being discussed, but there are not many persons who are asking
questions or who seem to be interested in at least hearing the
testimony. Reading it might be a different story. So I'm
pleased to be here.

Secondly, I'm going to deviate a little bit from standard
testimony practice, and maybe I'1l1l read a little bit, but I'll
mainly chat a bit about the issues, and hopefully won't take the
ten minutes.

I submitted a one page testimony which I will go over in
some depth, and two articles that I may refer to from time to
time.

First of all, the statistics in the high yield debt market,
I'm sure, are quite known by the panel and researchers at GAO and
related institutions. The market has grown dramatically from
about a little under $4 billion in 1977, to approximately $160
billion today. And with that growth in the market, a number of
institutions and regulatory bodies have expressed a great deal of
concern with respect to their particular constituents investing
in these markets, and they include of course, with respect to
these hearings, the Federal Home Loan Bank Board, and the various
Federal Home Loan Banks around the country, the Fed, SEC, state
insurance departments and legislatures.
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I guess the size of that market and the potential risk

involved have generated these concerns, and they are legitimate
concerns.

Also I'd like to mention that I'm not completely untainted,
as the academic moniker might imply. To be candid, at times I
have worked on research related projects for interested parties
in this market. Sometimes my publications are not always a great
delight to the people who paid for the study, but anyway the
point is that sometimes the research is painted with a brush
that's somewhat biased. I try not to be biased but sometimes
it's not so easy.

Another aspect of the high yield junk bond market that is of
particular interest of late is the fact that in the case of at
least one issuer, Imperial Savings and Loan in California, high
yield bonds are being used as collateral for new issues by this
institution and perhaps others.

It's interesting that the rating services have established
somewhat of a guideline of approximately 200%, or two to one
collateral to the size of the issue, if the issue is
collateralized with high yield junk bonds. I personally find
that 200% not only ad hoc, but probably too steep. The analysis
is on the conservative side. To get the Aaa rating from Moody's,
I would think 150% rather than 200% makes a lot more sense if you
look at potential default rates over a reasonably long time, like
10 years, and the possible loss in capital from those bonds that
are behind the default rate statistics.

Interestingly enough, you will find there are now closed-
end mutual funds rather than only the open-end traditional ones,
that are coming out in the market to invest specifically in high
yield bonds. One has been floated very successfully already, I
forget the name of it, it had America in the title, but the
interesting thing about this new issue is that these issues are
accompanied by debt securities which receive a AAA rating--as
long as something like 380% of bonds are collateralized behind
the debt issue. So high yield bonds are more than an issue of
regulation, it's an issue now of collateral and that of course

presents a more comprehensive subject and its impact on the
economy.

With respect to regulation, I have, in the article entitled
"The Truth About the Junk Bond Market"--I must apologize for that
title. Somehow or other I wrote an article which didn't have
that title and it appeared in print with that title. And I must
tell you that I was as surprised as anyone else, perhaps because
it's a little presumptuous. But anyway, it sells magazines, and
this appeared in a kind of professional magazine, a pretty good
one actually. But the title is not mine.
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With respect to regulation, however, I'm going to read a
little bit from this article, from page 65 of the Investment
Management Review. "While there is no evidence of excessive risk
in these investments, the historical default rate on high yield
bonds is nevertheless higher than on investment grade corporate
debt securities." And I might add that I've looked at the
default rates in great depth over the last few years, analyzing
rates not only in a traditional way of looking at the average
annual default rate, but in a new way in the paper that just came
out last week, one that I provided a copy to the GAO at least a
month ago. Looking at default rates or mortality rates in the
way that insurance actuaries look at mortality rates of people
when they accept their premiums.

"The question however becomes: Is default risk sufficient to
require the imposition of regulation on federally insured thrift
institutions or other types of institutions, who try to
participate in this increasingly popular investment area?"

"Rather than imposing a restriction or moratorium, one
possible solution would be to treat investments the same way
traditional loans are handled by thrifts and other lending
institutions. Loans for real estate development and home
mortgages, commercial and industrial purposes, and consumer
finance can also lead to default and loss", as we well know, and,
as was pointed out by Mr. Sussman in the prior testimony, if the
majority of loans are in certain areas of the country and we are
not diversified, that oftentimes is the cause of a failing
institution. These traditional types of loans should also be
treated the same way that high yield bonds are treated, or the
other way around, you could say, that is, adequate capital
reserve be set aside to cover expected losses. Why not treat all
investments including those in securities in a similar manner?

Now, I would like to go to the one page of, and again, I'm
not sure I had the right wording, but I used the words
"recommended thrift guidelines for investing in high yield
bonds.”

And this is the bottom line up front. The combination, in
my opinion, of adequate reserves and prudent diversified
investing is a recommended action with respect to all investments
made by federally insured thrift institutions. It is important
to note that I recommend treatment of high yield securities like
any other risk asset, and advocate adequate reserves for all
assets. The specifics of my recommendations are given a little
bit further on,

However, I specifically do not recommend a cap on the amount
of money invested in high yield bonds as long as the institution
continues to hold a savings and loan, or mutual savings bank
charter. I'm not sure I know, in fact I know I don't know, what
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constitutes a charter with respect to an institution, but I
imagine the primary business has to be in making the types of
loans that S&L and mutual savings banks traditionally make, and
therefore service the construction and housing sector of the
economy. I think that's very important to remember. They still
have to be able to engage in their primary business.

Based on the most recent three years of experience in the
high yield debt market, I would advocate a reserve of capital of
approximately 1.5 to 2% of the amount invested in such high yield
investments. This is derived from an average taken on losses,
and I emphasize losses, rather than rates of default, because
after all, one of the important ingredients of the high yield
market, as opposed to the private debt market, is the liquidity
that the investor has to sell the security should there be
default. And, on average we found that securities can be sold at
about 40% of par after default. This percentage varies from year
to year, however. In fact, in 1987, the average was 77.7% of
par, mainly due to the Texaco case.

Anyway getting back to the number, this 1.5 to 2% is derived
from an average taken on losses from defaults of 1% in 1985, 2.4%
in 1986, and 1.5% in 1987. 8o if you average that out, you come
out with something in the vicinity of 1.5 to 2%.

Actual losses due to default from a portfolio of high yield
bonds would offset this reserve, and an annual replenishment
would need to be accrued should the result fall below the reserve
requirement. Estimates of losses from other securities, for
example highly rated bonds and equities, as well as expected
losses from traditional thrift activities--loans on single and
multi-family dwellings, etc.--should also be assessed. They
probably are, I'm not sure of the exact guidelines with respect
to traditional loans, however.

As I said before, I do not recommend ad hoc restrictions on
the amount of high yield investments by individual thrift
institutions. The federally chartered S&L's have the 11% rule,
and in New York state now, insurance companies are expected to
have no more than 20% of their potential assets invested in high
yield bonds, made up of private and public types, which is also
ad hoc and arbitrary, as I testified before them about a year
ago.

Indeed, a minimum amount of investment dollars is necessary
for diversifying adequately, so restrictions could be counter-
productive. 1I'd like to emphasize that. If you advocate
diversification and at the same time you advocate limits on the
amounts, you perhaps will constrain the portfolio manager from
being adequately diversified.
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What is adequate diversification? I really don't have the
magic number of securities. 1I've seen studies that said as
little as 15 to 20 securities would be adequate. I find that a
little bit too few, especially if you didn't have other
limitations. I advocate in the vicinity of 30 to 40 different
issuers, not issues, but issuers, with no more than say, 5 to 10%
of the total high yield portfolio invested in any one issuer or
10 to 15% in any one industry.

Now, those are not based on a tremendous amount of study,
but I would guess that more precise guidelines should be based on
a detailed study of the make up of the total market, which by the
way changes over time.

An alternative scheme would be to study the portfolio make-
up of the leading high yield mutual funds, those which have
satisfactory to excellent returns and relatively low variability
of return below industry average. These might include the most
successful funds stratified by size because you probably have
S&L's and mutual savings banks, which will also be stratified by
size, and size is a barrier somewhat to adequate diversification.

That concludes the formal, or informal, testimony that I'd
like to make.

[See Appendix IV for the written statement of Dr. Altman.]

MR. HAVENS: Thank you Dr. Altman. We will turn to Mr.
Simmons of the General Accounting Office. We will then proceed
round robin fashion, counter clockwise.

MR. SIMMONS: I have a question for Mr. Sussman. Mr.
Sussman, in your testimony and in your article which you
submitted to us, you clearly take strong exception to the
prohibitions, current prohibitions that exist against commercial
bank investment and high yield bonds. Thrifts, federally
chartered thrifts are allowed to invest in high yield bonds up to
the 11% limit, and state chartered banks are also permitted to
invest in high yield bonds, which may be higher in some cases.

My question is, do you think the restrictions on thrift
investments that currently exist are too severe, do you think
there ought to be any restriction on thrift investments in high
yield bonds?

MR. SUSSMAN: This is a question concerning whether that
should be matched by ~--

MR. SIMMONS: No, simply whether there ought to be limits on
thrift investments in high yield bonds. They are currently 11%;
is that too restrictive, should there be a restriction at all,
that's my question?
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MR. SUSSMAN: To some extent, limits such as 11% may go to
ensure diversification across different types of assets.
Notwithstanding the merits of high yield bonds, to the extent
that there is risk involved in securities as opposed to lending,
as an asset, risk that is peculiar to securities, I think there
should be some limits, as there should be with any type of
particular asset.

As Dr. Altman mentioned with securities there should also be
concentration restrictions in one particular issuer, which I
believe already exist.

MR. HAVENS: Ken Lehn from SEC.

MR. LEHN: I have a couple of questions for the entire
panel. First, what explains the phenomenal growth of the high
yield bond market and corporate debt generally during the last
five years? Does anybody have any ---

DR. ALTMAN: Well, as in any market, you need a buyer and
seller, so it isn't one side or the other. 1I think there are
probably a number of reasons. One fundamental reason that took
place around the late '70's or early '80's, was that if you had
invested your money in long term government securities, over the
period 1978 to 1981, you would have lost money in three out of
those four years due to the interest rate rise in that period.

If you had most of your money in a diversified portfolio of
high yield bonds, you would have made money in every year except
one, and the return spread between government and high yield
bonds probably was between 5 or 6% average per year.

So what happened was, in my opinion, investors began to look
around and say that they weren't earning anything, in fact they
were losing money on risk free government securities, and they
started forming these funds to siphon some of the monies from the
government securities market, or new monies coming in, into
higher yielding and higher risk, higher return securities. And
this began to become well known, and so the mutual funds started,
some of the pension money came in, and at the same time, the
investment banks, particularly Drexel Burnham Lambert, were
Pioneering working with companies (as Professor Yago mentioned)
to issue securities directly to the public as opposed to going to
the private markets.

So you have this demand and supply beginning to increase at
around the late '70's or early '80's. As you all well know, the
market has been primarily fueled by a combination of the existing
new issuers for industrial purposes and for restructurings. And
the restructurings have probably accounted for something in the
vicinity of 50%, perhaps even more than 50% of the new issuers.
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And commercial banks, if I might editorialize, are more than
happy to finance takeovers if they could, because it's very
profitable to them. Perhaps Ms. Scanlon is aware, I'm sure she's
aware of it, that there are many banks out there, particularly in
my neck of the woods, in New York, probably have a much higher
return on their assets because of the LBOs financing market over
this last half a dozen years. I don't know if that is as well
known as perhaps it should be, but I think that's an issue why
the market has grown as well.

DR. YAGO: Let me amplify just a little bit on Dr. Altman's
comments, moving from sort of the investor perspective to the
issuer's perspective. Basically you had an under served market.
Looking at figures like net nonresidential investment as a
percent of GNP compared to earlier growth periods in the United
States, it had been relatively eclipsing. So had the ability to
try to get a hold of that portion of investment capital for firms
that had basically been closed out of that market during earlier
periods of time. I think probably one of the more frightening
aspects of the notion of trying to restrict capital markets at
this particular juncture in U.S. economic history is that the
firms that had provided the main core of growth in the last
recovery are the ones that seem to have been participating more
heavily in the high yield market and have been closed out from
other institutions.

The institutional structure of the capital market prior to
the introduction of junk securities was one which restricted
access to a lot of those firms, and if there are additional
restrictions placed upon them, I think that the probability of
keeping economic growth alive over a period of time, as we move
towards world global competitive pressures and issues like that,
becomes a really difficult point.

But to answer specifically your question it is I think an
under served market, innovation within the capital markets to
address it.

MR. HAVENS: Ms. Scanlon?

MS5. SCANLON: Thank you. Professor Altman, I would like to
ask your opinion on the securitization of the junk bond portfolio
by Imperial Savings Association. Do you think that was made
possible in part by deposit insurance, and more broadly, do you
think there is a moral hazard problem from thrifts in terms of
junk bond investments?

DR. ALTMAN: Perhaps without the deposit insurance, Moody's
and Standard and Poor's would have asked for more than 200%. But
I don't think deposit insurance itself 1s the issue here, because
as I mentioned before, there are now closed end mutual funds
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coming out, with junk bonds as collateral, and they're being
accepted in the market place.

The ratio is higher, I don't know where they got that 3.8 to
1, it's crazy. But whatever, perhaps Gail Hessol who is coming
on next, can answer that question., But even if there is a right
number there, you might argue that the deposit insurance, if it's
382 for closed end mutual funds, 200% for Imperial Savings and
Loan, that you have to look at the differences between those two
types of institutions with respect to the rest of their assets,
and deposit insurance is one aspect of it.

As far as the moral hazard problem, in other words,
individuals paying to subsidize the activities of S&lL's and other
risk taking, and other institutions, I consider much more of a
moral hazard to have some of these institutions invest without
diversification in real estate enterprises that they've gone
into, far more risky to me as an individual than high vyield
bonds.

I'm very comfortable with high yield bonds in a diversified
portfolio, to be perfectly honest with you, and at the same time,
I would not do it myself from my own portfolio, unless I had
enough assets to diversify, even though I think I do a good job
on the credit risk aspect. You know if I have ten securities and
two go under, I'm not going to do well. 1If I've got 100, and the
average number goes under, I'm okay.

So I don't really believe that there is a significant moral
hazard problem, but I have read that argument before, and my
response to that is adequate reserves and prudent diversification
to make sure that the hazard is not a significant one.

MR. SUSSMAN: If I may comment on the issue of depository
insurance. The FSLIC charges the same rate for federally
chartered S&L's as it does for state chartered S&L's, and state
chartered S&L's are of course controlled by the state rules,
certainly with regard to junk bond investments. Now the state
rules are generally more lenient than the federal rules, and that
has created some question over whether risk based deposit
premiums should be instituted, because there is, well one could
say that the state chartered institutions have a competitive
advantage over federally chartered SgL's, because state SgL's
don't have to pay their way, so to speak, in insurance rates,

MS. SCANLON: Thank you.

MR. HAVENS: Janet Laufer?

MS. LAUFER: I have no guestions.

MR. HAVENS: Thank you. Owen Carney?
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MR. CARNEY: Yes, sir. The question starts with
diversification that Dr. Altman was articulating. You indicated
that, and I understand the concept of large numbers of issues in
effect answering the effects of default of a single issue, you're
recommending 5% name limit, then 15% industry limit, which are
pretty standard diversification themes in most portfolios.

DR. ALTMAN: Right,.

MR. CARNEY: 1Is there anything peculiar to this market that
would lend itself to other forms of diversification?

DR. ALTMAN: Yes, there is actually, I'm glad you mentioned
that. I didn't mention earlier the question of liquidity. There
are three risks primarily in this market for domestic investors.
Interest rate risk, default risk and liquidity risk. I think the
studies very clearly show that interest rate risk is, if
anything, lower for high yield securities than for government
securities of certainly long term, and if you match up durations,
they are probably comparable.

So the interest rate risk I don't think is an issue.
Default risk is clearly higher for high yield junk bonds than
they are for investment grade, and that's what I talked about.
Liguidity risk is another aspect. And there are no, to be honest
with vou, there are no good studies on this., But if you wanted
some guidelines, I would say that you probably want to be sure
that there are two, at least two, and probably three market
makers in any security that you're investing in. But I would
guess that if you're going to have a $250 million issue, you
don't have any real problem with liquidity.

When you get below $150 million or $100 million, certainly
below $100 million, then -ou might have a problem with not enough
securities firms making markets. And the risk of liquidity of
course is that when you want to sell and there's one market
maker, you may have to sell at a big discount because the bid
asked spread is so high.

So I say liquidity risk is another factor in addition to the
maximum amount in any one issuer and the diversification by
industry.

Finally, another issue is if the market shifts, so that if
20 to 30 percent of the market is now in cable T.V. issues, then
I do not recommend hav’ng 20 to 30 percent of your portfolio in
one industry which might be susceptible to a much higher risk
than say the average of the industries across the board.

I do have another recommendation which is a little bit
related to diversification, and maybe it's premature to talk
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about it, and that is how you look at credit risk of individual
issuers., I don't know if you're interested in that at this
point, you were asking more about diversification.

I say diversify and then further, have a prudent credit
strategy and I can recommend either computer credit screens,
which I worked on, or taking a look at the quality of the people
who are managing the portfolios. That's a little more
qualitative and difficult, but after all, that may be the job of
examiners to have that gqualitative element as well as the
quantitative numbers of diversification.

MR. CARNEY: Let me do a follow up on that. As I understood
what you were saying on the smaller issues, where you might
likely have one market maker, are you advocating diversification
for underwriters of those issues?

DR. ALTMAN: That's right.

MR. CARNEY: Okay. Follow up question on diversification
arguments that you were presenting earlier where you suggested
mutual fund diversification or the diversification available
through junk bond mutual funds, may be beneficial for smaller
institutions that could not afford to diversify, I point out to
you one dilemma and I'd ask you your reaction to it. As I
understand generally accepted accounting principles, as they
apply to mutual funds held by financial institutions would be a
good start, that they are required to be carried on a mark-to-
market basis, where the actual market movements would be
reflected in the institution's capital base. Not their earnings,
but rather on a capital basis. Applicable to direct investments
in junk bonds, you wouldn't have such a mark-to-market unless the
instruments were subject to classification by a regulatory
agency?

MR. SUSSMAN: Right. That presents a difference in
treatment that I find unsettling.

DR. ALTMAN: Yes, so do I. This came up with the insurance
industry's deliberations on should they regulate the amount and
perhaps the diversification aspects of high yield bonds. And in
a report that I co-authored for the New York State Life Insurance
Association, we advocated marking to market of all assets, and we
were opposed to regulating one type of security to market and not
the rest of the portfolio. 1If you're going to look at capital,
and I know this is a big issue, not only for high yield bonds,
and not only for thrifts but for banks, commercial banks in
particular, and they mark to market, the loans in the portfolio,
particularly LDC debt, then we would have to change what we
define as capital, I think.
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But the point is that we advocate mark-to-market, I think
that's the way to look at the risk of a ththllQ= The other way
to do it of course, is to mark at cost, but you examine a market,
and you have your own ways of examining, and I would certainly as
an examiner want to look at the market value of the portfolio,

not the book value.
MR. HAVENS: Bob Miailovich.

MR. MIAILOVICH: At the present time, the banking agencies
use as a standard for looking at securities the rating bands and
so forth, and the idea that securities, the top four rating bands
with securities of comparable credit quality are considered
investment grade. You seem to be saying that something lower
than that is an acceptable risk for institutions even given the
fact that these are insured deposits, the institutions are
investing.

The question I have is, other than the question of
diversification and adequate reserves, is there in fact any
credit point at which--regardless of risk, regardless of
diversification and reserves, that this is just too far to go,
the top four rating bands aren't right. At what level of risk
are you saying, I don't care how you diversify, this is too far.
Any observations, and keeping in mind we're talking about insured
deposits.

DR. ALTMAN: One line of theory would say on individual
issues, unsystematic risk is irrelevant if you diversify, the
whole purpose of a diversification is to diversify away an
individual issue's credit risk. And so if you're in a
diversified portfolio, and some issues really can look terrible,
then you'd never have it in your own portfolio, and then go on to
the rest. The overall portfolio return is not going to suffer

very much more than it would if that security continued to pay
off well.

I find that somewhat difficult to support, but that's the
theory, and there's a lot of very good studies that have
documented it, particularly in the equity market. I could
recommend a technique for eliminating what you would call
probably very undesirable individual risk securities. But the
only way to do that is to have a system that you are confident
in. And that's a very subjective thing on my part to advocate,
and it has to do with having a back-up to whoever your portfolio
manager is. That's a bias in my case, because I think there are
very good computer screens to more or less completely eliminate
default possibility except for Texaco, and maybe a Storage
Technology would have been difficult to predict and a few others.
But you can--I think if you're willing to get out at some loss,
whether you used the bond ratings, as Ms. Hessol's going to talk
about in her testimony or some other technigue. She mentioned
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the fact that very few issues defaulted above a certain bond
rating, and when they were triple C they have a really high
probability of default. Don't deal in triple C's then if you are
risk averse. I prefer for you to be in "quality-junk," if you
want to have a term for it. 1I've used that before. You might
get a lower yield. But I can put together a portfolio today
that's essentially made up of double B's, and the chance of
default of any significant number of those is so small, that we
calculated a double B portfolio, over ten years, had something
like a six percent cumulative mortality rate adjusted for calls
and sinking funds.

And if you would take that and a loss of default on that 6%,
and compare it with the very superior yield spreads that a double
B rated security will give you, the risk-return trade-off is so
favorable that I don't think anybody should be concerned with
that. When you get to single B's, then the default rates of
course, start increasing. Then of course, you have to look at
the risk-return trade-off there, but even there, the returns are
far better than on risk free government bonds over a ten year
period.

Triple C's is perhaps another story in terms of the risk-
returns trade-off. By the way, I would say it's a mistake to
classify all triple B and higher rated bonds in the same
category. At the same time, I would say it's a mistake to
categorize double B and lower as all in the same category.

Those are very arbitrary definitions. I don't know if anyone on
the panel knows, I don't, who decided that an investment grade
security was triple B or higher, and who decided that a double B
was junk. Sometime in the past somebody came up with that.

MR. MIAILOVICH: 1In a 1938 agreement that all the regulators
got together in a room on.

DR. ALTMAN: Maybe we ought to look at the minutes of that
meeting to see how it came up. But I guess S&P, and I guess we
can ask Ms. Hessol that, has guidelines that are supposedly
consistent over time. I mean a triple B is a triple B no matter
if it was 1938 or 1988. 1In that case, we have to look at the
default rates of triple B's vis a vis A's and double A's, and
double B's, to see if it really makes sense to use that category.
And in the recent study that I just finished, I think for the
first time maybe since the pioneering study in this area by Dr.
Hickman, for the first time we can actually categorize default
rates by bond rating instead of by bond grouping, which is, you
know investment rating, non-investment rating. So I'm sorry
that's a long answer.

MR. HAVENS: Jim Barth?
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MR. BARTH: Thank you, I have two questions for Professor
Altman. The first is related to two statements that appear in
the banking law review piece that is presented by Mr. Sussman.

In there are the final two sentences which I would like you to
comment upon, if you would. "More than half of all high yield
issues have been brought to the market since 1982, the first year
in a historically long economic expansion. Today's average
default figures do not reflect this statistical bias and may not
remain accurate during less prosperous periods." Could you
comment on those sentences?

DR. ALTMAN: Yes, I think it's probably an accurate
statement of the numbers, and of course, it's easy to say that it
may or may not reflect the true default rates, because we really
don't know the true default rates. If we did, then there
wouldn't be any purpose of these deliberations, with knowing you
can set the right reserves.

If I might extrapolate your question, you're concerned with,
and I think a lot of people are concerned with, what will happen
when these new issues since 1982 come to fruition with respect to
potential defaults, which might be during the next recession, or
a bad recession, since we haven't had one since they've come out.

And I think that it's valid to presume that defaults will
probably increase during a recession, certainly would increase
during a severe recession. How dangerous is that to investors in
this market, might be a way to ask that question? I'm not sure I
have the right answer to that, but I would ask the question in a
slightly different way. I would ask how high does default rates,
adjusted for losses, have to be before an investor in high yield
bonds would lose money. Let's suppose the default rate in 1990
was 10%, which it has never been. A 10% default rate today would
mean $16 billion of defaults. This year we had somewhere around
$7 billion not counting convertibles. And the vast majority of
that is from Texaco.

But let's suppose the rate was 10%, and you got that $16
billion in defaults, the loss on that would be probably around 6%
plus a coupon payment. So you're talking about maybe 6.25% loss
from defaults, compared to risk premiums above risk free rates,
or yield spreads, probably averaging today and over this period
four or five hundred basis points (4-5%).

So you're talking about a net loss of 1.25-2.25% on the
portfolio, assuming interest rates don't change. How dangerous
is that? I would do a kind of a sensitivity analysis, maybe 10%,
12%, 15%, or was it in a depression, I mean if you're talking
about depression scenario. And then take a look at the impact on
the diversified portfolio to see what the impact is.
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But this statement is accurate with respect to the amounts,
and I don't know the answer in terms of how many defaults would
take place.

DR. YAGO: 1I'd like to just add one point to that. I think
that the new issue market really starts to take off around
'77/'78. During the expansion there was obvious demand for
capital growth and the new issue market boomed. However, it was
not an insignificant market from in '80 to '82/'83, which
everyone remembers was a fairly significant recession. And as I
look at default rates in that period and see the way that the
problems with credit risk were managed by the companies, there is
evidence that the use of the equity swaps or other types of
innovations inhibited problems of true economic loss.

So I would just say, you're right, '82, '83 starts are real
wave of expansion in the market, but the new issue market really
was fairly substantial in '80 to '82 and that was a major
recession,

MR. SUSSMAN: During a recession, bank loans themselves also
probably default at a higher rate, in addition to high yield
bonds. So any study on--or any consideration of performance in
future recessions should take into account the relative position
of high yield bonds, relative to all forms of assets a bank can
hold, and not focus on absclutes.

MR. BARTH: Thank you. One additional question for
Professor Altman, and of course the other two panelists can
comment on it if they wish. And that is new guidelines on
investing in high yield bonds for thrifts, you mention a loan
loss reserve figure of 1.5% to 2% based upon the aggregate amount
of such investments, and then you mention the guidelines, you
talk about minimum holdings of different issuers and what's the
inter-relationship between that loan loss reserve figure and the
minimum guidelines, that is to say would you prohibit investments
in junk bonds unless these guidelines are satisfied, or would you
adjust upwards or ratchet upwards, the loan loss reserves? 1Is
there any interplay between the loan loss reserve figure and the
guidelines, or are they strictly independent of one another?

DR. ALTMAN: That's a good question actually. I guess the
1.5 to 2 percent rate I was referring to, or reserve, assumes a
certain risk portfolio. Therefore, you could use the averages of
diversified portfolio performance. And if I understand your
question correctly, what you're saying is, suppose that these
other guidelines with respect to diversification and maybe size
are violated? I gquess the question is would that imply a higher
reserve, or a lower reserve in the case of suitable
diversification?
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I guess I don't have an answer for that. I'm not so sure I
would give under-diversification guidelines. I would be
concerned with say five to ten issues in a portfolio, unless the
case is so strong to the examiners that these issues have
literally such a small default possibility that you could live
with that. But that's a subjective thing. 8o I guess, I'm not
willing to give on the diversification and therefore it would
make the 1.5 to 2% firm also.

MR. BARTH: So would you--would perhaps a minimum be 30 to
40, are you willing to give up to 25--

DR. ALTMAN: Oh, yes, on that one, I think I'd give them,
because as I said in my testimony, I didn't really know if that
was the best number. I would like to see, and I have not done
this, really how well small mutual funds are diversified, and
their performance in recession periods and the like. There's not
that much history in that, so that's a difficult one.

I do know one mutual fund manager, portfolio manager, it's
not a mutual fund, it's a private investment fund, that advocates
being in ten quality junk issues. I won't mention the person's
name, but he doesn't manage a good deal of money at this point.
If he had a lot more money, I'm sure that he would have to be in
more than ten issues, otherwise he'd be, you know, a predominant
person in many of those securities, and he'd have to sell to
himself, or something like that.

I guess the point is that I don't think ten is right,
fifteen or twenty is probably a basic minimum, and 30 to 40, I
put in there for a general guideline., 1I'd like to really observe
how well the good funds are diversified and use that as some sort
of guideline. Of course there is a problem with timing; how
quickly in a start-up high yield situation can you get up to
those 30 issues, and so that would have to be worked out a little
more carefully.

But I really don't have the answer in terms of the trade-off
between diversification and reserve regquirement.

MR. HAVENS: Gordon Eastburn.

MR. EASTBURN: I wondered if anyone was ready to comment at
this point on the events of October 19 and 20, and what their
impressions were with regard to the junk bond market. Did it
confirm everything you expected, or were there surprises? Have
you reached any conclusions at this point?

DR. ALTMAN: Well, I looked a little bit at the results but
I don't know if I come to any firm conclusion. But let me just
throw out some observations. First of all, it's true that the
high yield market suffered in that period and thereafter for a
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short period of time. Probably fell something in the vicinity of
5 to 10%. The equity market fell by 30%.

Since that time, the high yield market is significantly
above what it was on October 18th, well, above anyway. It was a
flight to quality, and the spreads between high yields and
governments probably increased by 150, maybe even 200 basis
points, which caused the prices to go down in one case, and up in
the risk free case.

So the "quasi-equity" nature of junk bonds certainly kicked-
in there. 1If you had to sell on October 20th, you probably faced
a liquidity problem. Maybe not as severe as in many common
equities, but there clearly was difficulty in selling some of
those high yield bonds. 1If your depositors rushed at you, and
you needed to get out at that point, you might have had a
problem--would have had a problem in getting what price you
perhaps thought was warranted.

I am really impressed with the market, actually what's
happened since October 20th, in terms of how it's come back very
strongly. And, what hasn't taken place until just about three,
four weeks ago, is the new issue market also kicking in, which is
now beginning to happen again as investors begin to take heart
that the world hasn't come to an end.

But certainly it was far more risky to be in equities, than
in high yield bonds. And if you're able to say "To hell with the
market, I'm just going to hold on to these securities until they
mature, or even buy securities, there were tremendous
opportunities to buy in that week. Of course you have to have a
lot of stomach for that.

But the point is that yvou have to differentiate, I think,
between worry about market impact to the generic quality of the
issue, because I don't care what's going to happen, in terms of
the market, as long you feel confident in that issue, that it's
going to pay off in time, you don't have to sell. 1It's only when
you're forced to sell due to perhaps redemptions, in some mutual
funds perhaps, that you face that whammy of a market going down,
and you not being able to hold to your investment strategies.

DR. YAGO: Just to amplify on that point, I think Dr.
Altman's exactly right, I mean what happened was there was an
initial dip and the market recovered very quickly. The high
yield bond market responded very much the same way as the OTC
market which is also comprised of smaller, lesser known firms.

In the OTC equity market, there was flight to better known names
after the crash, resulting in a dramatic dip in share values. 1In
the quarters reported after October, smaller and medium sized
companies showed positive signs of growth despite the crash, and
the market began to respond to those signals. 8o, while there
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was a short-term market failure at the time of the crash and a
perception of lower value for both smaller equity and debt
issues, the markets now appear to be responding more effectively.
So I think the performance of the companies, even though there is
a market failure if you will, at that particular moment in terms
of a perceived lesser value of those issues, it's responding now
more effectively.

MR. HAVENS: We've completed one round of questioning, and
we have five minutes remaining in the allotted time for this
section of the hearing. 1If we started around again, we probably
wouldn't get very far.

MR. SIMMONS: I don't have anything else,

MR. LEHN: I just have one question, and that is, is there
any evidence on the extent to which high yield, that the bonds of
an issuer are tightly held as opposed to publicly held, because
it seemed that the bankruptcy costs would be correlated with the
extent to which there is diffuse holding of those bonds. Is there
any such evidence of that?

DR. YAGO: We didn't have any in our study, we weren't
looking at the purchase side.

DR. ALTMAN: I haven't looked really at the holdings in
terms of the total market. I have looked, it was about a year
and a half ago, as to the most popular issues held by the 30 or
40 largest mutual funds in this industry. 8o you can take a look
at the composition that way. And the most popular issues are the
most widely held. What I didn't look at is those maybe sizable
issues that were not on that list, and there probably were some
in there. So there is that risk.

There's another risk, and that takes place in investment
grade bonds as well as non-investment grade bonds. If you track
the trading, the volume of fixed income securities, you will find
that new issues have a great deal of trading, both in the primary
market and in the immediate secondary market also, as some who
are able to get in on the original issue still think it was a
good buy, and others want to make a quick profit,

But what tends to happen, in all grades of securities,
investment and non-investment grade, is that trading volume tends
to dry up in fixed income securities after a few months, maybe
five or six months. Even your double A's and your triple A's,
they're just not all that ligquid, I shouldn't say not all that
liguid because that's a different measure, they're not traded
that much after some time.

And perhaps the reason for that is, a person buys a bond and
says, hey, this is a good buy, I like the company, I like the
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yield I'm getting, and puts it away. And if enough people do
that, there's no trading activity.

MR. LEHN: Thank you.
MR. HAVENS: Ms. Scanlon?

MS. SCANLON: Thank you. Professor Altman, when we were
talking about diversification, and you were focusing on the high
yield bond portfolio itself, has there been any analysis of the
co-variance between the high yield bonds and the other assets
that might be held by the institutions in purchasing these?

DR. ALTMAN: Oh, that's a very good question. I was
thinking that you were going to ask a question about the
correlation between equity securities, investment grade bonds,
and high yield bonds.

I don't know about the consumer debt, I don't know about
single family dwellings, I don't know about the cycle of problems
in assets of S&L's. That would be a very good thing to look at.

With respect to high yield bonds and risk free governments,
the correlation is in the vicinity of around .75 - .85, which is
higher than a lot of people think. That's because of interest
rate risk. They fluctuate together, and it's only the credit
risk differential, and of course October 19th is a very good
example, a very low covariance or negative covariance in this
case. So I would say about .75 is what the studies tend to show
between high grade and junk bonds.

With respect to equities, I'm sure that the correlation is
lower. There are institutions and individuals that are building
hedging strategies now, looking at those correlations.

MR. HAVENS: I think that about uses up the time we have
available for this section of the hearing. Thank you very much,
others on the panel who didn't get to ask all questions they
might have wanted to ask may have some to submit for written
responses afterward. Thank you again very much.

Our next witness is Gail Hessol, Managing Director, Standard
and pPoor's Corporation. Ms. Hessol, it seemed that the last
panel kept saying we ought to ask Gail Hessol this, we ought to
ask Gail Hessol that. So at this point, I think we would be very
pleased to hear your opening remarks, we would appreciate it if
you would hold it to no more than ten minutes.
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STATEMENT OF GAIL HESSOL, MANAGING DIRECTOR,
STANDARD AND POOR'S CORPORATION

MS. HESSOL: Okay. My planned remarks were fairly brief,
and I was taking notes on some of the questions that came up
earlier, and maybe I can try and work in my own responses to some
of the things that have come up previously.

I was thinking to myself, when the question came up about
the Imperial Savings issue, which was backed by a pool of junk
bonds, and which we did assign a triple A rating to the issue.
The last time I was in a public forum and was asked about the
deal. It was a week after Black Monday and I was in Zurich with
an audience of Swiss bankers, and they said, "My goodness, how
could you put a triple A on anything connected to junk bonds,"
and we explained our methodology, and then of course the next
guestion was "Was Standard and Poor's considering a downgrade of
the U.S. Government's triple A rating." And we were the only
people laughing.

So anyway, that is an introduction. I'm going to keep my
comments, my formal comments to the topic of risk. How risky are
junk bonds, not only how risky have they been historically, but
how risky are they likely to be in the future.

I did, in my written testimony, cover a much broader ground,
and if you have gquestions on those matters, I'll get into it
after the formal presentation.

It's already been pointed out by the three earlier speakers
and by your questions that the audience here is well familiar
with the concept of risk, that you clearly understand the
distinction between credit risk and the risk of a price change,
the risk of volatility in the bonds, and of course it's the
latter that goes into the studies of risk and return of junk
bonds.

We all know that investors can have substantial gains or
losses on U.S. Government Bonds, not because Uncle Sam is going
to miss an interest payment, but simply because of the interest
rate risk, and obviously the same holds true for high yield or
junk bonds. And similarly there are considerable opportunities
for profit buying bonds of bankrupt companies. I know if you buy
at the right time and sell at the right time, you can have a 50%
gain in a few months.

I'm sure all of you appreciate the distinction between
credit risk and what goes on in the market. There has already
been quite a bit of discussion about default rates and default
risks, and that's what I want to pursue for the remainder of my
comments.
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I don't know if the members of the panel have a copy of the
appendices that I submitted. Okay, well, I'll tell you what was
in them, and if you want to check this out in your offices later,
I'm sure you can.

There was a table that Standard and Poor's prepared showing
year by year the amount of junk bonds defaulting, or precisely
the amount of corporate bonds defaulting. And this figure has
absolutely soared. We had $417 million in defaulted bonds in
1983, and it hit $9 billion last year. And this was of course
during a healthy economic period.

There are many different ways to measure default rates, but
I think any way that you measure them you would conclude that the
default rate had been steadily rising. I would say since 1983; I
think Professor Altman might start the point at 1984. And by the
way, the only corporate bond to default with an investment grade
rating was Manville Corporation back in 1982, so when we're
talking about default rates on corporate bonds, they are all junk
bonds. There are, or have not yet been many defaults, and I hope
there won't be many of investment grade bonds.

But looking at those totals, the $9 billion I mentioned for
1987, and the five plus percent default rate that Professor
Altman has calculated, many people say, "But of course that
includes Texaco's bankruptcy and LTV's bankruptcy the year
before. Doesn't that really distort the totals?" We would say
no. First of all, LTV was a company that we always felt was a
speculative grade credit. We had a junk bond rating on that
company in the 1960's. Senior debt rating was CCC plus when it
filed for bankruptcy.

Somewhat similarly we had a single B rating on Texaco senior
debt for 16 months before it went under. Texaco was merely the
largest company but by no means the first or the only to seek the
refuge of bankruptcy to escape a crushing non-debt liability.
This is a risk that we take very seriously at Standard and
Poor's, the company's possible incentive for filing for
bankruptcy, and that is factored into our rating process.

The other reason that these names are occasionally mentioned
as being distortions is that they are simply so big. Texaco's
default involved more than $7 billion of debt. We think that
there are likely to be more giant defaults in the future. Up
until maybe 1983 or 1984, there were very few speculative grade
companies that had hundreds of millions, or billions of dollars
in debt outstanding. As a result of the leveraged buyouts and
recapitalizations, there are now several dozen junk bond issuers
with large amounts of outstanding debt. I think the only reason
they haven't shown up in force on the defaults yet is that it is
simply too soon.
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That sort of leads into another controversy, the distinction
in default rates between fallen angels, the companies that were
downgraded from investment grade to speculative grade, fallen
angels on the one hand, and the "rising stars," or original issue
junk bonds. "Rising star" is not our terminology.

By the way, we've been counting defaults since the
beginning of 1972, and have found that 2/3 of the companies
defaulting were original issue junk; they were not fallen angels.
Fallen angels represent only a third of the defaults.

Now, that's measured as the number of companies. If you're
measuring the dollar amount of debt, there's no question that the
fallen angels predominate, but as I said a couple of moments ago,
I think that's just because there wasn't a lot--or there weren't
many large original junk bond issues until recently.

Getting more prospective or future oriented, what is our
outlook for defaults, we would expect definitely an increasing
number of companies defaulting on public corporate bonds. We
think there will likely be an increase in the amount of
defaulting debt.

Now, I'm not saying that it's going to be $10 billion this
year, and $12 billion next year, and straight on up. 1987 did
have that huge Texaco number, but we would expect that over the
intermediate term there could well be a year with ten or 15
billion dollars in defaulting corporate bonds.

And we are concerned about the next recession. Even if the
recession is mild, which is the general expectation we would
expect a significant number of casualties. One reason for
thinking this way is really quite simple. There is a much larger
pool of weak credits to choose from. The number of B rated bonds
has guadrupled in the last four years.

The number of CCC's you used to be able to count on one

hand, and now it's about 35 or 40. So with this huge pool of
weak credits to choose from, I don't think I'm going out on a
limb by saying the number of defaults are going to rise.

To move along a little bit, I just wanted to share a little
bit of specific advice or recommendation for the junk bond
investor. It is imperative for a junk bond buyer to carefully
analyze each and every credit. I would also urge, not only
investors but all of you here today, to look at those historical
default rates skeptically and cautiously. The past may not be a
good indication of the future.

I would second the earlier recommendations to diversify a
portfolio of high yield securities. Remember back in 1980, we
were waiting in line just to buy gasoline and a crash in the
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price of oil seemed inconceivable. Well, six vears later, 15 oil
companies defaulted on their publicly held bonds.

Also I would urge the investor to carefully look at the
business of the borrower, or junk bond issuer. You can't just
buy bonds by the numbers, you really have to understand what
industry this company is in, what is their position within that
industry, what are management's strategies. Qualitative analysis
is really important.

When one does look at the financial statements, the focus
should be on prospective or projected cash flow analysis. Cash
flow, both absolutely, and especially relative to debt service.
Cash flow relative to the company's other requirements for funds,
investment in plant and equipment, working capital, dividends and
so forth., These are by far the most important measures of
financial health.

My last suggestion is going to sound a little bit self-
serving, we drop the hint that an investor might want to look at
Standard and Poor's bond rating. And I'm pleased the subject
came up with the earlier speakers.

Just to elaborate a little bit on our track record, our
ratings by definition primarily evaluate default risk, and we
really have been keeping score. Since the beginning of 1972,
there were 132 companies that defaulted on public bonds which we
rated, through the end of 1987.

So the universe is 132. You might want to compare that to
what our ratings have been, and there are a couple of ways to
slice it. Since 1972, we would estimate that about 800
industrial and utility companies were rated single A or better.
Of that 800, 18 eventually defaulted. I think that's a pretty
good record, although I would very strenuously caution any one
not to extrapolate that trend. We think there's a real danger
that bonds which were once rated single A or double A could well
default in the future, and at much more than historical rates.

The simplest example is the company that used to be a double
A and did an LBO last year now it is a single B, and yes, they
might go under in a couple of years. So ancient history becomes
irrelevant for those types of firms.

Another way to look at the correlation between ratings and
defaults is what our ratings were at the time the bonds went
bust. At default 70%, of the bonds we rated were rated CCC,
which is our lowest rating. Seven out of 10. And one year prior
to default, 27% were rated CCC and another 33% were rated single
B. There are various other ways to slice these statistics, but
I'm gquite comfortable sitting here and saying there's a strong
correlation between our ratings and defaults.
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Just by way of conclusion, I would say that to date junk
bonds have provided an attractive return for prudent
sophisticated investors, however, risks in the future may well be
greater than in the past.

[See Appendix V for the written statement of Ms. Hessol.]

MR. HAVENS: Thank you, Ms. Hessol. Since Martha had the
last question, we'll start around on this side, and go
accordingly.

MR. CARNEY: Thank you. I was interested in your remarks
about default risk related to non-debt liabilities, and I was
wondering if your organization had any system for providing
yourselves any assurance that the companies you're rating will
avoid these kind of non-debt liabilities?

MS. HESSOL: There is nothing that can be done by us to
prevent a company from getting enmeshed in lawsuits and so forth.
We have very comprehensive procedures for assessing those
situations. I mean, it was no accident that we had the rating we
did on Texaco.

We have detailed discussions, confidential discussions, with
the management of the companies whose bonds we rate. 1If
necessary, we consult outside expert sources. We do whatever we
feel is necessary to assess that risk and to quantify it.
Ultimately it's a judgment call. And that's why we have human
beings rather than computers making rating decisions.

These are very difficult because I have sat across the table
from managers, and asked them, "Are you considering a bankruptcy
filing?", and they will always tell you no, and you really have
to look whether their hand twitches or whether they blink when
they say it. And I'm being serious on that. And that's part of
the credit analysis that we do.

MR. CARNEY: And just by way of follow up, in your opinion,
does the average institutional investor have the resources and
the access to information that would enable them to make
judgments, intelligent judgments about non-debt liabilities?

MS. HESSOL: Most probably do not. I know in the Texaco-
Penzoil situation, a number of the major firms on Wall Street had
hired their own law firms to research the issues and provide
guidance and expertise. That requires a lot of money and would
be highly unusual. I'm not saying that we have perfect
information either.

MR. HAVENS: Thank you. Bob Miailovich?
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MR. MIAILOVICH: Thank you. Do you have any observations or
comments on the logic of the regulatory agencies' decisions to
cut off investment grade at the fourth band versus fifth band?

MS. HESSOL: I don't know when that happened. I know we
didn't do it. Although we are obviously a beneficiary in some
ways of that. The rating definitions do use the language
speculative or investment, and I had thought it was one of your
agencies that had done this many years ago, long before I was in
the bond rating business.

MR, HAVENS: Jim Barth?

MR. BARTH: Yes, could you comment on the statement made by
Professor Altman. He was commenting on the fact that some
institutions issue liabilities which are backed by junk bonds--
junk bonds serve as collateral. And your agency rates the
liability which is backed by the junk bonds. Could you say
something about that process, or what you think of the use of
junk bonds as collateral?

MS. HESSOL: I was not personally involved in that, and I'd
be happy to have one of my colleagues respond to this question in
writing. I do know a few general aspects of the methodology that
we used. There was a distinction within the credit level.
Professor Altman referred to the over collateralization. It was
key to the actual rating. The over collateralization level was
less for double B than single B, and I believe triple C was
totally ruled out.

There were also mechanisms in the deal requiring securities
to be priced very regularly and, if necessary, sold, so it was a
rather complex transaction. Again, I'd be happy to have somebody
respond in writing. Is there a particular aspect of that which
you'd like to know more about?

MR. BARTH: No, I can provide more detail in writing to you.
At the beginning of your comments you said that there are many
different ways to measure default rates. Could you say something
about one or two different ways, and which is the preferable way
to measure a default rate. For example, would one look at
numbers? Are you talking about numbers of defaults? Then there
are dollar amounts lost in the event that there are defaults.
Those are two measures that come to mind. Are there other
measures, and which one is the most preferable, or is there such
a measure?

MS. HESSOL: Dollar amount is certainly more scientific than
numbers. What I had in the back of my mind was that some of the
underwriters of junk bonds have chosen to distinguish between
default rates on fallen angels, versus default rates on original
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issue. I would not recommend that approach because I think the
distinction over time is going to be meaningless anyway.

So I would certainly prefer comprehensive analysis of
defaults. Often convertible bonds are excluded from the default
rate calculations, and I understand why it's done, because if
you're comparing default rates to returns, the pricing of
converts is so different from straight debt that you can't mix
apples and oranges. But I think if one is truly looking to
isolate default rates on speculative grade credit, it would
probably be appropriate to include convertible debt, which,
although not high yield because of the convertibility feature,
it's certainly speculative grade. There is a significant portion
of speculative grade convert debt outstanding, and also converts
are special in another way, in that they are very closely
associated with the high technology industries, and that's a
whole sector of the economy that would be sorely missed if you
were looking at default rates without converts.

MR. BARTH: And one last question. You said something about
a 70% accurate rating or the lowest rating at the time of
default. What is the time of default? How do you actually
assign a default date?

MS. HESSOL: Okay. The filing of a bankruptcy petition is a
default. In virtually every bond indenture it is legally an
event of default. Let me back up and answer your a question a
little more carefully. What I'm terming a default is the date
that Standard and Poor's puts a D rating on a bond. We do that
the day of a bankruptcy filing. We do that the day a company
misses an interest or principal payment on the issue. And
occasionally we will do it a little earlier if the company makes
an announcement they're not going to make the interest payment
that's due next week.

MR. BARTH: Thank you.

MS. HESSOL: And by the way, 95% of the defaults involved
bankruptcy and were very clear cut.

MR. EASTBURN: Let me come back to this categorization,
well, grouping I guess is easier, of ratings by the regulators.
Is it still fair to say from what you have been mentioning this
morning in your paper that the non-investment grade
categorization would still have a decay in rating that is
substantially faster than the top four grades, and also, you're
saying it would probably accelerate in the years ahead. I guess
it comes back to the fact that if they have to use any kind of
grouping, is this one particularly bad, or would you have a
better one? Would you pick the top five categories, the top six,
or--
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MS. HESSOL: By intent, the rating categories are a
continuum of credit risk. I think it's true that at one time
there was thought to be a little bit more of a split between
triple B and double B, but that distinction is becoming no less
of a distinction than between double B and single B, for example.

For a number of reasons I discussed earlier, it's very
tricky to talk about default risk by rating category over time
because some of the ratings were assigned 25 years before the
default, some ratings were assigned five years before. There is
clearly a difference between single B and triple C. Senior debt
rated triple C has demonstrated a very high default rate. And
there is a noticeable pick up historically on default risk at the
single B level, from double B to single B.

Probably not between double B and triple B, and again this
is historical you know, retrospective analysis.

MR. EASTBURN: Should that be the case? I mean when you're
buying a triple B, aren't you--or a double B, aren't you in
effect betting or concluding that the decay in rating will be
faster, or greater in that category than--

MS. HESSOL: No--no, I think the ratings, all the rating
categories, are evaluating the likelihood of a default, not the
likelihood of further deterioration. Slightly different.

MR. EASTBURN: Yes, I understand.
MR. HAVENS: Craig?

MR. SIMMONS: A number of the submissions that we've
received have indicated that junk bond financing has been
substituted for commercial loans, and my gquestion is simply this.
In the event the borrower gets into trouble and has done a junk
bond financing as opposed to a commercial loan financing, aren't
the options for restructuring and working out the borrower's
troubles considerably more limited under junk bond financing
arrangements than commercial lending financing arrangements, and
is that something we ought to worry about in the next recession?

MS. HESSOL: I would agree with your first statement. For
example, in a bank loan and in the typical insurance company
private placement, there are various financial covenants which
the borrower must meet. Otherwise it is a technical default.
And oftentimes companies violate those covenants. In a private
instrument there are opportunities for re-negotiations which are
just not practical or feasible on the public instrument.
"pProtective Covenants" have been vanishing from public
indentures, but if a company violates a covenant in a public
indenture, it's just impractical to go back and re-structure a
deal,

43



Your second question is, "Is this something we should worry
about in the next recession?" Yes, I mean it's all part of the
same scheme. 1It's also interesting--I was just talking about the
vast amount of LBO debt now outstanding. Many, not all, but many
of those companies have very little bank debt, which means they
don't have an approachable lender to work with if things get a
little bit out of line. 1It's all or nothing. If you go back and
look at the old fallen angels, they had lots of bankers to help
them out and restructure.

MR, HAVENS: Ken Lehn?

MR. LEHN: Yes. Do you have any evidence on the default
rate associated with high yvield debt used to finance takeovers
and LBOs, vis a vis the default rate on other high vield issues?

MS. HESSOL: We have gone back and counted them all. My
estimate is that to date there have been virtually no defaults
connected with takeovers. Technically Texaco got into trouble
because it acquired Getty. I don't know how you can count that
one,

MR. LEHN: When there is a highly leveraged takeover though,
I don't want you to give away trade secrets here, but is it
automatic that you lower the credit rating of the target firm?
Because my impression is--the evidence in the academic literature
shows that on average there is no central tendency whereby the
bond price of the target firm is reduced upon the announcement of
LBOs and tender offers, yet my impression is that typically the
ratings go down dramatically.

MS. HESSOL: I don't know the academic studies you're
referring to, but I know in the real market those bond prices
move .,

MR. LEHN: 1Is there evidence that there is a central
tendency--in other words, if there are going to be subsequent
asset sales, and in many of these transactions it's very clear
there will be, it's not unreasonable to think the market reaction
would be fairly small. Many LBOs, of course, have come public
again in a short period of time, and I'm just wondering, given
that there is snme evidence that the central tendency is a very
small price to pay, whether or not that's inconsistent with the
rating system you have there,.

MS. HESSOL: The issue begins when a company, a target
company is put into play, in Wall Street lingo. There are
several things that can happen. It could be acquired by a
hostile bidder. It might also choose a defensive maneuver which
could be extremely damaging to credit quality and its rating.
Some of the most severe downgrades have not been companies that

44



were acquired by an outsider, but which bought their own stock in
a defensive play, and some of the recapitalization plans, or for
that matter, even a leverage buyv out can be defensive.

And the ratings have generally fallen very sharply. If you
look at the resulting debt burden, and the cash flow to service
it, the margin is extremely thin.

MR. LEHN: Can you name five leveraged buyouts that have
resulted in defaults?

MS. HESSOL: Oh, I thought I answered that question earlier.
I don't think there have been any that have defaulted. I would
add the word yet. These transactions were consummated within the
last few years, and I think it is too soon. But I don't believe
there have been any LBO or any recapitalized companies that have
defaulted. I could check that more precisely, unless you want to
count Texaco.

MR. HAVENS: Ms. Scanlon?

MS. SCANLON: Thank you, I would like to follow up a little
bit on Ken's question which was you had in your paper a statement
that yields on investment grade debt may not provide adequate
compensation for a debt risk, and the implication there is that
the holders of that debt are going to take a large loss when it's
downgraded, associated with a takeover. Ken suggests that
there's not much price effect observed in literature, at least
I—-=-

MS. HESSOL: 1I'm sure there's a price effect in the market.

MS. SCANLON: I wanted to just ask a more factual question.
Do you keep track of what portion of those 800 A rated firms have
been lowered below investment rates by event risk, and should
that not be treated in a similar fashion to default risk if it's
going to entail large losses?

MS. HESSOL: That is probably the most challenging job we
have as bond raters: how to factor event risk into the rating.
When there's a bid on the table, Company A is bidding for Company
B, we can make some response, we can evaluate the terms of the
bid, and at least come to a "what if" decision. We don't feel
it's appropriate for us to change a rating just because there's
rumor and speculation that someone may make some kind of bid for
the company. We don't feel that there is sufficient information
for us to